**RECEIVED**

**Mar 09 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

---

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Civil Action No: 2018-CP-10-00148  
Appellate Case No: 2021-000784

---

Dewberry 334 Meeting Street, LLC, .....Appellant,

v.

City of Charleston and City of Charleston Board of Architectural Review - Large,  
..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

G. Trenholm Walker (SC Bar # 5777)  
Walker Gressette & Linton, LLC  
P.O. Box 22167  
Charleston, SC 29413  
843-727-2208  
Walker@wgflaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

March 9, 2022

## ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the circuit court erred in holding City Council invested the BAR with the authority to regulate the exterior illumination of structures at night and the degree of their illumination even though the only authority conferred on the BAR by the City's zoning ordinances is solely to oversee changes to the exterior architectural appearance of structures?
- II. Whether the BAR ordinances are unconstitutionally vague as applied to deny Dewberry's illumination of the landscape stairs and certain elements of the historic building where the ordinances contain no provisions addressing the exterior illumination of structures and no standards or criteria for exterior illumination?
- III. Whether the circuit court erred and abused its discretion in upholding the BAR's reliance on an unwritten, unadopted policy that purportedly allows exterior illumination of only civic buildings?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action commenced on January 12, 2018, when Dewberry 334 Meeting Street, LLC ("Dewberry" or "Appellant") filed its notice of appeal of a decision of the City of Charleston's Board of Architectural Review – Large ("BAR") pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 6-29-900(B)(2), as amended. **(R. p. 36)**. Dewberry accompanied its appeal with a request for pre-litigation mediation in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. Section 6-29-915. **(R. p. 37)**. The mediation was unsuccessful.

On October 30, 2020, Respondents City of Charleston (the "City") and the BAR (jointly "Respondents") filed the certified record of the BAR proceedings with the circuit court pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 6-29-920(A), as amended. **(R. pp. 41-189)**. On November 30, 2020, Dewberry filed its Petition and Grounds for Appeal with the circuit court pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 6-29-915 (F). **(R. pp. 190-243)**.

The appeal was assigned to Deadra L. Jefferson, circuit judge for the Ninth Judicial Circuit. On December 4, 2020, the Respondents filed their Memorandum in Opposition to the Appeal. On January 4, 2021, Dewberry filed its Memorandum in Support of the Appeal. **(R. pp. 259-270)**.

Because of the complications from the COVID-19 pandemic, Judge Jefferson decided Dewberry's appeal on the briefs, without oral argument.

On February 25, 2021, Judge Jefferson issued her written order (the "Order dated 2-25-2021") dismissing Dewberry's appeal and affirming the decision of the BAR. (**Order dated 2-25-2021, R .p .22**). Dewberry filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend on March 8, 2021. (**Mot. to Reconsider, R. pp. 271-284**). The circuit court denied Dewberry's Motion on June 21, 2021. (**Order dated 6-21-21, R. pp. 1-5**). Dewberry filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court on July 20, 2021.

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS** **INTRODUCTION**

Justice Kittredge penned: "[i]n South Carolina, to preserve some semblance of the separation of powers we once held sacred, an administrative agency may not make law without legislative oversight and approval." Joseph v. S.C. Dep't of Lab., Licensing & Regul., 417 S.C. 436, 461, 790 S.E.2d 763, 776 (2016). Justice Kittredge noted the following year that "... the separation of powers [is] vital to the proper functioning of our government . . . ." Fullbright v. Spinnaker Resorts, Inc., 420 S.C. 265, 277, 802 S.E.2d 794, 800 (2017). Judge Wilkinson, the former Chief Judge of the Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, expressed similar views regarding the importance of the separation of powers, stating that "[t]he structural restraints of separation of powers are important and serve in their own fashion to safeguard the sacred charter of our rights." Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 294 F.3d 598, 607 (4th Cir. 2002). Distilled to its purest form, this appeal highlights a fundamental overreaching by a municipal board that violates this separation of administrative and legislative authority.

In November 2016, the City required Dewberry to apply to the BAR, a design review board created by the Charleston City Council, for approval of the exterior illumination of its renowned

hotel, The Dewberry. **(R. at pp. 76-78)**. Dewberry installed the lighting during the renovations to convert the former federal building to the hotel. The City's ordinances governing the BAR do not expressly grant it jurisdiction to determine the exterior illumination of buildings, but only changes to the exterior of buildings.

The BAR denied Dewberry's request. In issuing this denial, the BAR exceeded the power explicitly granted to it. There is no ordinance conferring on the BAR the authority to regulate the illumination of structures at night. In making its decision, the BAR relied upon an unwritten, unadopted discriminatory policy that allows the illumination of civic buildings but not other buildings. For these reasons, the BAR acted beyond its purview, committed legal error, and rendered a decision that was arbitrary and capricious.

### **FACTUAL BACKGROUND**

From 2014 to 2016 Dewberry extensively renovated the former L. Mendel Rivers Federal Building at 334 Meeting Street into a premier, award-winning hotel. **(R. pp. 44-47)**. In fact, The Dewberry was voted the number one lifestyle hotel in the world by Hospitality Design Magazine. **(R. p. 53:ll. 8-9)**. The hotel is located in Charleston's Old and Historic District, at the corners of Meeting, Charlotte, and Henrietta streets, across Meeting Street from historic Marion Square. **(R. p. 44:ll. 9-12); (R. p. 56:ll. 5-10)**. Dewberry purchased the former General Services Administration office building in 2008 for \$15,000,000; until its renovation by Dewberry, the building sat dark, abandoned, and dilapidated for years. **(R. p. 44:ll. 9-12, and at p. 47:ll. 12-14)** ("Prior to the opening of the hotel in May of 2016, the side of Meeting Street [upon which the property is located] sat dark and neglected for 17 years.").

The extensive renovations included adding exterior lighting to feature some of the architectural elements of the historic building and to lightly illuminate the wide landscape stairs

between the building and Meeting Street. The administration of longtime Charleston Mayor Joseph P. Riley, Jr. encouraged Dewberry to add exterior illumination of the building as part of the hotel's beautification. **(R. p. 47:ll. 7-11)** ("The prior administration had always discussed and encouraged Mr. Dewberry to activate the Meeting Street side to create a visual edge to the Meeting Street side of Marion Square, both during the day and in the evening."). This encouragement was not without precedent – other buildings around Marion Square, St. Matthew's Lutheran Church, for example, are illuminated at night. **(R. p. 46:ll. 5-10); (R. pp. 66-67:ll. 22-4)**. To ensure that this exterior lighting was aesthetically designed in a manner that featured the building's architectural elements while integrating into its surroundings, Dewberry enlisted the services of Brian Orter Lighting Design ("BOLD"). **(R. p. 49:ll. 20-22)**. BOLD is renowned for its lighting plans that are sensitive to a building's architectural integrity and its surroundings; BOLD's exterior lighting plans have been used on historic buildings in both the United States and around the world. **(R. pp. 49-50:ll. 23-9)**.

BOLD performed an extensive lighting assessment and prepared a design plan for the exterior lighting. BOLD created three groups of exterior lights: (1) Uplighting (in-ground 6 watt lights, and similar lighting hidden within the floor of the rooftop terrace around the eighth floor) **(R. pp. 96-98)**, (2) Downlighting (discreet downlights spaced at intervals across the band around the top of the seventh floor that direct light on the pilasters of the building) **(R. pp. 106-109)**; and (3) Step and Wall lighting (minimal lights within exterior landscape stairs between the building and Meeting Street that illuminate the steps at night and small lights equally spaced near the bottom of brick exterior walls) **(R. pp. 119-121) (R. pp. 50-53:ll. 10-18)**. The lighting of the landscape stairs, which is necessary for the safety of pedestrians at night, is particularly innocuous as shown by the photos. **(R. pp. 119-121)**.

The photos of the uplighting and downlighting as well as pages from BOLD's lighting plans speak for themselves and show the measured approach for the illumination of the elements of the building. **(R. pp. 94-114)**. The exterior lighting for the front of the hotel on Meeting Street was intended to "create a visual edge to the Meeting Street side of Marion Square" and to illuminate what had been the former dark, dilapidated, and abandoned building, making that side of Meeting Street more "hospitable and inviting." **(R. p. 47:ll. 7-25)**. Notably, this lighting was not designed to cast "out" towards the residential areas behind the surface parking lot to the rear of the building.<sup>1</sup> **(R. p. 60:ll. 2-16)**.

Dewberry did not seek BAR approval for its exterior lighting design before installing the lights as designed by BOLD. Dewberry was unaware that the BAR considered the degree of illumination of a building at night to be within its jurisdiction even though the BAR ordinances fail to mention any oversight of the illumination of buildings at night. When construction was complete, the City of Charleston declined to issue a certificate of occupancy for the eighth floor of the hotel until the BAR reviewed and approved the exterior lighting. **(R. pp. 76-78)**.

As insisted by the City, Dewberry applied to the BAR for after-the-fact approval of its lighting system on October 16, 2016, along with seeking after-the-fact approval of some miscellaneous changes to the exterior of the hotel property that occurred during construction that were not shown on the plans approved by the BAR. **(R. p. 74)**.

Along with its application, Dewberry submitted several letters in support of its the lighting system designed by BOLD.

---

<sup>1</sup> This is an important point, as one of the primary concerns of nearby residents was light pollution. **(R. p. 55:ll. 17-20)** ("... and we were concerned about any lighting intrusion . . .").

David Walker, the Pastor of the Citadel Square Baptist Church that is immediately to the South of the hotel on Meeting Street, wrote a letter complementing the lighting design, stating he “personally think[s] the overall lighting design for your hotel adds class and great taste to the City landscape.” (R. p. 82.) Pastor Walker noted “there have been no complaints from the membership at Citadel Square Baptist Church regarding your lighting.” (R. p. 82.)

Cress Darwin, the minister of the Second Presbyterian Church, the immediate neighbor to the north of the hotel on Meeting Street, wrote a letter commending the renovation and stating that “[a]t night the understated lighting renders the building lovely and inviting.” (R. p. 83).

In addition, Charleston’s two long-established preservation organizations – The Historic Charleston Foundation and The Preservation Society of Charleston – submitted letters supporting and complementing the exterior lighting. The Chief Preservation Officer of the Historic Charleston Foundation stated in his letter: “It is our position that the building’s exterior, the surrounding streetscape and the neighborhood have all been greatly enhanced by the addition of the entry canopies, the plantings, and the generous exterior lighting. The lighting of the building accentuates the historic features of the facade and make it come alive at night. We completely support the changes that you have made and believe that the city benefits from this project immensely.” (R. p. 80.) The Executive Director of the Preservation Society of Charleston likewise stated in his letter that the exterior lighting was an enhancement, despite having prior reservations about the Dewberry Hotel’s appearance, stating: “As you know, the Society’s main concern over the renovation was the grey washing of the brick. In reviewing this issue, I believe that the lighting package actually helps alleviate this concern. The current lighting softens the appearance of the exterior, creates a more interesting visual character and more historic feel by accentuating the craftsmanship of the original materials.” (R. p. 81).

The BAR considered the Dewberry’s request for the after-the-fact approvals at its meeting on December 13, 2017. **(R. pp. 42-73)**. Lockie Brown, Dewberry’s Vice President of Design, spoke in support of Dewberry Hotel’s exterior lighting, providing the background information including an explanation of BOLD’s lighting design. Only two community residents, Angela Ransford and Bill Weston, offered comments opposing the Dewberry’s lighting system. **(R. pp. 54-58)**. Their criticism was primarily based on Dewberry not seeking approval of the plan for lighting of the exterior of the building before installing the lights and their personal view that the lights were too “glitz[y]” and “bright.” **(R. p. 56:l. 23); (R. p. 56:ll. 1-4); (R. p. 57:ll. 18-20); (R. p. 58:l. 1)**.

Dennis Dowd, the City Architect, presented his comments and recommended that the BAR deny approval of all the uplights and downlights, and mandate a reduction in the quantity of the wall and step lights. **(R. pp. 63-64:ll. 10-9)**. Dowd stated:

I don’t believe anybody would argue that they haven’t done an elegant job with the building. I think they – they definitely have. However, over the years, the board has consistently denied up and down lighting of buildings viewing it as detrimental to the character of historic structures and the city as a whole and neighborhoods. And each request has been reviewed on a case-by-case basis. Generally, the only buildings allowed to have up or down lighting have been civic buildings.

**(R. p. 61:ll. 14-25)**.

Following these comments, the BAR voted unanimously to adopt Dowd’s recommendation, denied Dewberry’s application, and mandated that Dewberry remove all lighting features at Dewberry’s expense—including many of those necessary for the safety of guests unrelated to the select uplighting or downlighting of the façade. **(R. p. 75); (R. pp. 71-72:ll. 15-14)**. Board members expressed their reasons for following Dowd’s recommendation, mostly stating that the lights were excessive and that “the board does have a long track record of discouraging dramatic uplighting and downlighting of architectural features except from a –

(inaudible) . . . I think that – this sort of dramatic lighting scheme, uplights and down lights, and certain –(inaudible) And things like that does place a detrimental effect on the character of the historic district . . .” **(R. pp. 66-71).**

Dewberry appealed the BAR’s decision. In its Petition and Grounds for Appeal, Dewberry asserted that the BAR committed an error of law and acted arbitrarily and capriciously: 1) when it exercised authority over the external illumination of buildings even though the City’s zoning ordinances do not contain any explicit provision allowing the BAR to regulate the degree of illumination of the exterior of buildings; 2) by not having any standards governing exterior illumination that inform a property owner that the BAR determines exterior lighting and what criteria the board applies for gauging exterior lighting; 3) by applying an unwritten, unadopted policy that only civic buildings could have exterior lighting; and 4) in construing the Ordinances beyond their clear wording and superimposing unwritten standards that restrict the free use of property. **(R. pp. 205-206).**

On February 25, 2021, by written order (the “Order”), Judge Jefferson, dismissed Dewberry’s appeal and affirmed the decision of the BAR. **(R. pp. 6-22).** In the Order, the circuit court found: 1) the City’s zoning ordinances give the BAR authority to approve any alterations to the exterior architectural appearance of a building within Charleston’s Old and Historic District; 2) the City’s zoning ordinances provide sufficient guidance to the BAR for criteria for evaluating such alterations; and 3) record evidence supported the BAR’s finding that the lights “overemphasized the size of [the Dewberry] . . .” **(R. pp. 13-22).**

Dewberry filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend on March 8, 2021. **(Mot. to Reconsider, R. pp. 271-284).** Dewberry’s Motion asserted that: 1) the City’s BAR ordinances did not give the BAR the authority to review exterior lighting in the City; 2) the BAR ordinances

provide no standards for exterior illumination and are unconstitutionally vague as applied; 3) the BAR improperly applied an unwritten and unadopted policy that exterior lighting was only allowed on civic buildings; 4) the BAR based its decision on the decision of Dowd and cannot add new justifications for its decision after the fact; and 5) some BAR Members' self-stated "special knowledge" does not, in and of itself, convey on their board the authority to review exterior lighting schemes. (**Mot. to Reconsider, R. pp. 283-284**).

The circuit court denied Dewberry's Motion on June 21, 2021. (**R. pp. 1-5**). Dewberry filed its Notice of Appeal on July 20, 2021.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Appeals from architectural review boards are governed by South Carolina Code Section 6-29-900 that provides, in pertinent part, as follows: "[a] person who may have a substantial interest in any decision of the board of architectural review or any officer, or agent of the appropriate governing authority may appeal from any decision of the board to the circuit court in and for the county by filing with the clerk of court a petition in writing setting forth plainly, fully, and distinctly why the decision is contrary to law." S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-900.

South Carolina Code Section 6-29-930 (A) specifies the standard of review for the circuit court:

...The findings of fact by the board of architectural review are final and conclusive on the hearing of the appeal, and the court may not take additional evidence.... In determining the questions presented by the appeal, the court must determine only whether the decision of the board is correct as a matter of law....

South Carolina Code Section 6-29-930 (A); See also, Blind Tiger, LLC v. City of Charleston, 366 S.C. 182, 185, 621 S.E.2d 361, 362 (Ct. App. 2005) ("In reviewing a decision by a board of architectural review, the circuit court should act when the board abuses its discretion by committing errors of law or bases its decision on findings of fact that are not supported by the

evidence.). This Court is bound by the same abuse of discretion standard. Id.; see also Fairfield Ocean Ridge, Inc. v. Town of Edisto Beach, 294 S.C. 475, 366 S.E.2d 15 (Ct. App. 1988).

## ARGUMENT

- I. **Because the City’s ordinances confer authority on the BAR only to determine changes to the exterior architectural appearance of buildings and do not confer authority to determine the appropriateness of the illumination of structures, the circuit court committed a legal error in determining that the City Council invested the BAR with the authority to determine exterior lighting and the degree of illumination.**
  - a. There is no provision in any of the City’s Zoning Ordinances granting the BAR express authority to review and determine exterior lighting, and the circuit court erred in implying this authority into existing ordinances when their meaning is clear and unambiguous.

The circuit court committed an error of law and abused its discretion in holding that Charleston’s zoning ordinances grant the BAR authority to review and approve or disapprove exterior lighting plans based on “the expressed intent of City Council” that a “certificate of appropriateness will be required for any *alteration to a structure* in the Old and Historic District.” (Order dated 2-25-2021 at p. 10) (emphasis added). The fundamental legal error is that the *illumination* at night of elements of an historic building and portions of the grounds around the building is NOT an “*alteration* to a structure.”

A regulatory or administrative body, such as the BAR, can only apply standards explicitly given to it by the legislative body that created it, and cannot apply standards that have not been approved by the legislature. Captain’s Quarters Motor Inn v. S.C. Coastal Council, 306 S.C. 488, 491, 413 S.E.2d 13, 14 (1991) (“We hold Coastal Council overstepped its statutory authority in formulating and applying this test [its own test for determining if a seawall was less than fifty percent damaged] for purposes of permit evaluations without formalizing it by regulation.”). Simply put, an agency or regulatory body like the BAR only has powers expressly conferred upon

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