RECEIVED

Apr 11 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-10-00148
Appellate Case No. 2021-000784

Dewberry 334 Meeting Street, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

City of Charleston and
City of Charleston Board of Architectural Review-Large,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Wilbur E. Johnson (SC Bar No. 3062)
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
P.O. Box 993 (29402)
wjohnson@ycrlaw.com
rhines@ycrlaw.com
(843) 720-5488

and

Julia P. Copeland (SC Bar No. 77199)

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

⁴ It is axiomatic that City Council does not have to comply with the APA in adopting ordinances. Likewise, the APA does not apply to the BAR. See S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-10(1) (defining “agency” as including state boards and commissions).

common sense dictates that City Council intended for the BAR to review changes to external illumination of structures where, as here, such illumination would render the BAR's review and approval of other aspects, including materials and colors, meaningless.

Dewberry also suggests that the BAR's use of Dowd's testimony violates the uniformity requirement in section 6-29-720(B) of the South Carolina Code by applying different rules to different buildings within the same district. Section 6-29-720(B) states: "Except as provided in this chapter, all of these regulations must be uniform for each class or kind of building, structure, or use throughout each district, but the regulations in one district may differ from those in other districts." The plain language of section 6-29-720(B) permits different regulations to be applied to different uses within a district, and a civic use is different from an accommodations (or hotel) use.

In the present case, the BAR did not adopt or purport to apply a "rule of law." Consequently, the South Carolina Court of Appeals should affirm the circuit court.

III. The circuit court properly determined that the CZO provides sufficient guidance to the BAR in evaluating alterations to the exterior architectural appearance of structures in the Old and Historic District.

Sec. 54-240.b, Sec. 54-240.d, and Sec. 54-240.f. of the CZO set forth the criteria that the BAR utilizes in evaluating applications for alterations to the external architectural appearance of structures in the Old and Historic District. **R. pp. 154-155.** In Sec. 54-240.b of the CZO, City Council directed the BAR as follows:

In reviewing an application to demolish, or demolish in part, or remove, or alter the exterior architectural appearance of any existing structure, the Board of Architectural Review shall consider, among other things, the historic, architectural and aesthetic features of such structure, the nature and character of the surrounding area, the historic or culturally important use of such structure and the importance to the city.

R. p. 154. Pursuant to Sec. 54-240.d, City Council authorized the BAR to deny such an application, providing:

Among other grounds for considering a design inappropriate and requiring denial or deferral and resubmission are the following effects: Arresting and spectacular effects, violent contrasts of materials or colors and intense or lurid colors, a multiplicity or incongruity of details resulting in a restless and disturbing appearance, the absence of unity, visual compatibility and coherence in composition, form and proportion not in consonance with the dignity and character of the present structure (in the case of repair, remodeling or enlargement of an existing structure) or with the prevailing character of the immediate surroundings (in the case of a new structure).

R. p. 155 (emphasis added). Sec. 54-240.f articulates one of the “other grounds” upon which the BAR may deny such an application:

The [BAR] may refuse a permit or Certificate of Appropriateness for the erection, construction, alteration, demolition, partial demolition, or removal of any structure within the Old and Historic District, which in the opinion of the [BAR], would be detrimental to the interests of the Old and Historic District and against the historic character and public interest of the city.

R. p. 155 (emphasis added). Dewberry ignores these standards, instead pointing to the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Historic Preservation and the 2017 BAR Principles for New Construction and Renovation and Repairs as the only standards applicable to a review under Sec. 54-232.a. **R. p. 151.**

Dewberry also incorrectly asserts that the ordinances governing the BAR’s review lack sufficient specificity to authorize the BAR to deny Dewberry’s request for after-the-fact approval of the new external light fixtures and appurtenant lighting elements added to the building during construction.

“A municipal ordinance is a legislative enactment and is presumed to be constitutional.” Scranton v. Willoughby, 306 S.C. 421, 422, 412 S.E.2d 424, 425 (1991). “The exercise of police

power under a municipal ordinance is subject to judicial correction only if the action is arbitrary and has no reasonable relation to a lawful purpose.” Id. “The burden of proving the invalidity of a zoning ordinance is on the party attacking it, and it is incumbent on [appellant] to show the arbitrary and capricious character of the ordinance through clear and convincing evidence.” Id.

Sec. 54-240.b, Sec. 54-240.d, and Sec. 54-240.f are the primary provisions governing the BAR’s review of Dewberry’s application. In Burke v. City of Charleston, 893 F. Supp. 589, 612 (D.S.C. 1995), the federal district court reviewed and upheld substantially the same standards against a vagueness challenge. On appeal, the Fourth Circuit vacated the decision only because plaintiff lacked standing. See Burke v. City of Charleston, 139 F.3d 401 (4th Cir. 1998). The Fourth Circuit found it unnecessary to address the substantive claims. Id.

As reflected in the district court’s extensive case law citations on the issue in Burke, Dewberry misunderstands the standard for “specificity,” especially as applied to the field of architectural review. See, e.g., Maher v. New Orleans, 516 F.2d 1051, 1063 (5th Cir. 1975) (“It is true, as Maher observed, that no officially promulgated regulations pinpoint each decision by the Commission. Nonetheless, apart from the evident purpose of the legislation and the taut lines of review maintained by the legislature over the operation of the Commission, other fertile sources are readily available to promote a reasoned exercise of the professional and scholarly judgment of the Commission. It may be difficult to capture the atmosphere of a region through a set of regulations. However, it would seem that old city plans and historic documents, as well as photographs and contemporary writings may provide an abundant and accurate compilation of data to guide the Commission.”).

In A-S-P Assocs. v. Raleigh, 258 S.E.2d 444, 453 (N.C. 1979), the City of Raleigh established a historic district, created a historic commission, and required a certificate of

appropriateness from the commission for any proposed activities within the historic district. Id. Both state law and Raleigh’s ordinances required the historic commission to review such applications to prevent those activities “which would be incongruous with the historic aspects of the district.” Id. This standard is not unlike the criteria articulated in the City’s governing ordinances, which focus on the objective impact to the historic character of the district.

The Supreme Court of North Carolina rejected a challenge to this standard on the grounds of vagueness, explaining:

The general policy and standard of “incongruity,” adopted by both the General Assembly and the Raleigh City Council, in this instance is best denominated as “a contextual standard.” A contextual standard is one which derives its meaning from the objectively determinable, interrelated conditions and characteristics of the subject to which the standard is to be applied. *See* Turnbull, *Aesthetic Zoning*, 7 Wake Forest L. Rev. 230, 242 (1971). In this instance the standard of “incongruity” must derive its meaning, if any, from the total physical environment of the Historic District. That is to say, the conditions and characteristics of the Historic District’s physical environment must be sufficiently distinctive and identifiable to provide reasonable guidance to the Historic District Commission in applying the “incongruity” standard.

Id. (emphasis added).

The Court also emphasized the practical difficulties in adopting minute details for each possible activity governed by a historic preservation ordinance, emphasizing that other jurisdictions had reached the same conclusion: “To achieve the ultimate purposes of historic district preservation, it is a practical necessity that a substantial degree of discretionary authority guided by policies and goals set by the legislature, be delegated to such an administrative body possessing the expertise to adapt the legislative policies and goals to varying, particular circumstances.” Id. at 454. “It is a matter of practical impossibility for a legislative body to deal with the host of details inherent in the complex nature of historic district preservation.” Id. “It is therefore sufficient that a general, yet meaningful,

contextual standard has been set forth to limit the discretion of the Historic District Commission.” Id. “Strikingly similar standards for administration of historic district ordinances have long been approved by courts of other jurisdictions.” Id.

The case law cited by Dewberry does not contradict the decision of the Supreme Court of North Carolina, but instead advances it. Schloss Poster Advert. Co. v. Rock Hill, 190 S.C. 92, 93, 2 S.E.2d 392, 393 (1939), is the only published opinion cited by Dewberry invalidating an ordinance for lack of specificity. The ordinance at issue in Schloss read as follows: “Hereafter it shall be unlawful to erect or maintain any billboard facing on any public street or other public place within the incorporate limits of the City of Rock Hill without having first obtained from the city council a permit to do so.”

The Schloss Court invalidated the ordinance because there were no standards governing City Council’s decision. See id. at 96, 2 S.E.2d at 394 (“Thus the city is clothed with the uncontrolled power to capriciously grant the privilege to some and deny it to others; to refuse the application of one landowner or lessee and to grant that of another, when for all material purposes, the two are applying for precisely the same privileges under the same circumstances.”).

The ordinances governing review by the BAR in the present appeal stand in stark contrast to the ordinance addressed in Schloss, which the Court emphasized could not be considered a “zoning ordinance.” Id.; see also Petersen v. City of Clemson, 312 S.C. 162, 171-72, 439 S.E.2d 317, 323 (Ct. App. 1993) (“In Schloss, the ordinance in question was totally void of any standards or conditions, making arbitrary discrimination and abuses by the City possible. The court, in fact, declared the ordinance before it was in no sense a zoning ordinance because it did not prescribe regulations, but instead committed zoning decisions to the unrestrained will of the City authorities for any reason deemed satisfactory to them.”).

Since Schloss, appellate courts in South Carolina have showed extreme restraint in striking down ordinances under a challenge of “vagueness,” especially in the zoning context. For example, in Hodge v. Pollock, 223 S.C. 342, 347-48, 75 S.E.2d 752, 754 (1953), the Supreme Court of South Carolina addressed whether the “unnecessary hardship” test for a variance should be invalidated, explaining: “The office of the variance is to permit modification of an otherwise legitimate restriction in the exceptional case where, due to unusual conditions, it becomes more burdensome than was intended, and may be modified without impairment of the public purpose.” The Court emphasized the lack of an all-inclusive definition of “unnecessary hardship,” but still upheld the “wide discretion” conferred on the zoning board: “A board of adjustment is vested with a wide discretion in determining whether a variance should be granted in a particular case on the ground of unnecessary hardship.” Id. “Its decision should be given great weight and the discretion vested in such board should not be interfered with unless arbitrary or clearly erroneous.” Id.; see also City of Beaufort v. Baker, 315 S.C. 146, 152, 432 S.E.2d 470, 473 (1993) (refusing to invalidate an ordinance prohibiting “loud and unseemly” noise as unconstitutionally vague); Marathon Oil Co. v. Plymouth, 181 N.W.2d 668, 670 (Mich. 1970) (upholding planning commission’s discretionary authority to grant permit if service station “is so arranged or maintained so as not to affect adversely the normal development or use of neighboring property in the same district or in an adjoining district”).

In Peterson Outdoor Advert. v. City of Myrtle Beach, 327 S.C. 230, 234-35, 489 S.E.2d 630, 632 (1997), extensively cited by Dewberry, the Court again refused to invalidate a zoning ordinance on grounds of vagueness: “[A] municipality may delegate the administration of its ordinances to a board provided the board’s discretion is sufficiently limited by clear rules and standards.” In Peterson Outdoor, the Supreme Court of South Carolina expressly *upheld* the standards set forth in the subject ordinance, but required a remand to the local government to apply them: “[T]he City validly

exercised its authority in enacting the CAB Ordinance and in delegating the enforcement of this ordinance to the CAB.” *Id.* at 235, 489 S.E.2d at 632. In Kroger Co. v. Plan Comm’n of Plainfield, 953 N.E.2d 536, 543 n.2 (Ind. Ct. App. 2011), another case Dewberry cites as “instructive,” the appellate court concluded that the governing ordinance contained sufficient specificity, but remanded the matter because the planning commission’s *findings* were insufficient.

Dewberry desires that City Council adopt other ordinances addressing external lighting, such as the one adopted by the Town of Mount Pleasant. This is a legislative decision, not a judicial one. The specificity of Mount Pleasant’s ordinance has no legal impact on the constitutionality of the City’s governing ordinances. As the circuit court explained: “So long as the CZO meets the constitutional requirements, nothing invalidates an ordinance simply because it could be more specific.” **R. p. 19.**

Nor is Dewberry’s emphasis on the City’s standards governing the illumination of signs controlling: “The Court similarly rejects the [Appellant’s] emphasis on the City’s standard governing the illumination of signs.” **R. p. 19.** The specificity of such regulations has no legal effect on the constitutionality of other provisions in the ordinance. This is especially true with respect to the regulation of signs, which inherently requires special attention due to its First Amendment implications. This is precisely why many historic district ordinances—like the City’s—have separate standards governing signs. See Zoning and Land Use Controls § 7.03[3] (2021) (“Signs, of course, are typically on the outside of buildings and may significantly affect the appearance of a building, site or district. Thus, most local governments with preservation ordinances include the erection or installation of signs under the scope of the ordinances, including the review processes.”).

As the circuit court correctly held, Dewberry failed to meet its burden of establishing by clear and convincing evidence that City Council’s ordinances governing BAR review of the

underlying application are unconstitutionally vague. Respondents respectfully request that the South Carolina Court of Appeals AFFIRM the circuit court's ruling on this ground.

IV. The circuit court correctly affirmed the BAR's finding that the light fixtures and appurtenant lighting elements installed by Dewberry altered the exterior architectural appearance of the hotel building, to the detriment of the building and the historic district, because record evidence supports this finding.

As a preliminary matter, Dewberry did not challenge the BAR's finding that the exterior lighting elements overemphasized the size of the hotel building to the detriment of the historic district in its appeal to the circuit court or to this Court. **R. p. 67, lines 9-25; p. 68, lines 20-22; p. 70, lines 14-18; see Newton v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals, 396 S.C. 112, 117, 719 S.E.2d 282, 284 (Ct. App. 2011) (“[T]he sole preservation requirement for a first-level appeal of a zoning board's decision is that an appellant must set forth his issues on appeal in a written petition and file that petition with the circuit court before the thirty-day filing period expires.”); Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) (“An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.”).**

On the merits, the circuit court recognized that the “BAR's factual findings that the new external lights placed on the building overemphasized the height and scale of the building and detracted from the character of the historic district are supported by the record.” **R. p. 22.** The circuit court was spot-on.

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